FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 7/5/2023 4:54 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/6/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>102156-9</u> Court of Appeals No. 38278-8-III

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON Petitioner,

v.

CHRISTOPHER DONALD PETEK Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

WILL M. FERGUSON WSBA 40978 SPECIAL DEPUTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY STEVENS COUNTY 215 S. OAK STREET, ROOM 114 COLVILLE, WA 99114

I.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington requests this Court accept review of the Decision designated in Part III of this Petition.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Christopher Petek (hereinafter "Mr. Petek") was convicted by a Stevens County jury of one count of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree and two counts of Possession with Intent to Deliver an Imitation Controlled Substance. Report of Proceedings (hereinafter "RP"), Volume 3, at pages 504-05; Clerk's Papers (hereinafter "CP") at pages 134-36.

On December 30, 2020, members of the Stevens County Sheriff's Office, U.S. Marshals, and Washington Department of Corrections (hereinafter "DOC") officers, as part of a fugitive taskforce, went to a rural address off Orin Rice Road in Colville to arrest Mr. Petek on a DOC warrant. 1RP 7-8, 15: lines 10-17, 18-19, 38:17-21; CP 155. Prior to arrival, law enforcement officers were aware Mr. Petek had a prior felony conviction and that Mr. Petek was known to possess firearms. 1RP 8, 40, 51-52. On his Facebook page, Mr. Petek had posted a "Black Guns Matter" logo and a photo showing him holding firearms. 1RP 15-16, 33, 63-66; CP

155; Pre-trial Plaintiff's Ex. 1-3, Defendant's Ex. 2.

Law enforcement also knew about the trailer in which Mr.

Petek could be found:

A Knowing that that residence had been used by several people in the past, as a flop house or a place to stay, there was obvious concern that there could be more people staying there.

Q Did you actually know this residence prior to going there?

A I did.

Q Who -- whose residence was it.

A Joseph Level's.

Q Okay. And did you know in the past of many people being there?

A Yes.

Q Okay. So you have that knowledge as well as you're hearing noises from the bedroom.

A Yes, Ma'am.

Q Okay. So what --at this point do you make entry? A Yes. At this point we ask ourselves again, "Anybody inside," make themselves known, for obvious safety reasons, and at the end of that we hear -- nobody making themselves larger closet, both large enough to hide in, and (inaudible), and then the -- the bedroom area right there.

1NRP 73-74. Mr. Petek was apparently holed up in a camper trailer owned by another individual known to law enforcement,Mr. Joseph Level (hereinafter "Mr. Level"). 1RP 73:15-16.

Upon arriving at the rurally located camper trailer, law enforcement observed Mr. Petek's vehicle, which displayed the same "Black Guns Matter" logo as the one Mr. Petek posted on his Facebook page. 1RP 33, 39, 67-68; CP 155.

When law enforcement knocked on the door of the camper trailer, Mr. Petek opened the door, recognized law enforcement, darted back inside, and closed the door. 1RP 9, 20, 68-69. Mr. Petek then yelled at law enforcement, said he didn't trust law enforcement, he had to get dressed, he wanted to talk with his wife, and he would come out when he was ready. 1RP 10, 22, 42, 52, 69, 89-90. Mr. Petek refused to come outside for 10-20 minutes. 1RP 23, 41, 52.

During the standoff, law enforcement could hear

conversation coming from inside, but law enforcement could not
determine how many people were inside the camper trailer. 1RP
42. Law enforcement remained outside because forced entry
presented an elevated risk to officers. 1RP 9-10.

Mr. Petek eventually exited the camper trailer, closing the door behind him, thereby denying the officers the opportunity to see into the camper trailer. 1RP 10, 42. Law enforcement arrested Mr. Petek, placed him in handcuffs. 1RP 23, 53, 91. At some point, after another occupant was removed from the trailer, Mr. Petek was placed in a vehicle. 1RP 91:17-20.

When Mr. Petek finally came out of the camper trailer, law enforcement asked who remained inside. 1RP 11, 42-43. Mr. Petek lied and denied that anyone else was in the camper trailer. 1RP 11, 24, 43. The officers knew that Mr. Petek was lying and that there was another individual in the camper trailer because the officers had heard talking and movement. 1RP 11, 70.

Mr. Petek had to be asked again if there was anyone else inside the camper trailer; Mr. Petek finally admitted that his

girlfriend was inside. 1RP 11, 24, 32, 43-44, 71. Either Mr. Petek or another occupant of the trailer had locked the door behind Mr. Petek, after he exited the trailer. RP 53-54.

Only after law enforcement knocked and announced their presence again, a female opened the door and then immediately backpedaled into camper trailer. 1RP 11, 25, 44, 54, 72, 93. Stevens County Sheriff's Detective Travis Frizzell (hereinafter "Detective Frizzell") reached in and grabbed the female, preventing her from repeating the standoff with Mr. Petek. 1RP 11, 44-45, 55-56. Detective Frizzell passed the female to another detective, who took physical control and detained her for safety reasons. 1RP 11, 25, 46, 56; 1NRP 12.

During hearing on Mr. Petek's motion to suppress, the Stevens County Superior Court (hereinafter "trial court") heard the following testimony regarding the danger that the officers faced:

> Q Okay. Now in your training and experience when the door is opened, is there a concern at this point still even though Mr. Petek is outside?

A Right. So there's (inaudible) for any door (inaudible) you don't want to be in front of it or near it when it's opened like that just because that's where any threats could be directly coming from, and you know, we're always trained where there's one there's two, where there's two, there's three, and so on. So, -- and there'd already been dishonesty as far as was there anybody in the trailer, so just -- to make sure the scene was safe, the trailer was entered, by, I believe, two of our detectives and cleared for any people.

1NRP 12:2-14. On cross-examination, law enforcement's

assessment of the situation stayed the same:

Q Yeah. So at that point -- the panic and the threat is (inaudible).

A Not at all.

Q Well why would you -- you hold a female who's being detained ten feet from the front door?

A 'Cause she was in custody, because it was snowy and we didn't have anywhere to put her at that time.

Q Yeah, but that doesn't just doesn't make any sense. I mean, what what's what's (inaudible) the threat at that point.

A There was one person in there, then there was two people in there why not three, four or five people in there.

1NRP 28:6-16 (emphasis added).

Even after detaining two individuals, officers could still

hear noises coming from the camper trailer. 1RP 34, 46, 59, 72; 1NRP 73. They knew dogs were inside, but they couldn't say whether the source of the noise was the dogs or a human and they had already been lied to by Mr. Petek and the female tried to escape back into the camper trailer. 1NRP 29; 1RP 31, 34, 45-46, 72.

Detectives Frizzell and Mark Coon (hereinafter "Detective Coon") entered the camper trailer and performed what was called a "protective sweep" of the camper trailer. 1RP 47, 74, 92; 1NRP 73. The detectives searched the camper trailer for more people hiding inside. 1RP 47-48, 74; 1NRP 73, 75. The detectives searched only areas where a person could be hiding. CP 156.

During the protective sweep, the detectives observed drug paraphernalia. 1RP 74; 1NRP 75; 2RP 196, 282:4-16. Law enforcement also noticed "a foregrip for an AR style firearm on the front porch." 2RP 230:1-4.

The officers then obtained a search warrant and discovered a gray drug kit, two scales, dope style baggies, "fake heroin", MSM, and an AR-15 firearm. 2RP 171:9-18, 230, 247, 292:18-25.

Law enforcement found a tarry substance that Mr. Petek called "fake heroin." 2RP 233, 322, 327:7-9. In total, the fake heroin was found in two bags. 2RP 471:18-19. 6.8 grams, or 70 doses, of the fake methamphetamine were found in Mr. Petek's gray drug kit. 2RP 297-98. Mr. Petek described another substance in the gray drug kit, as "MSM." 2RP 325-26. "MSM" is often used as a cutting agent for methamphetamine. 2RP 182, 326. The MSM mimics real methamphetamine. 2NRP 326:13-16. The largest portion of MSM, weighing 90.3 grams, was found in a bin in the trailer. 2RP 300:14-23. Even more MSM was found in a bag in the trailer; this MSM weighed 60.6 grams. 2RP 298-99; State's Trial Exhibit 28. Another bag from a gray drug kit contained a substance that the detectives identified as cocaine; the cocaine weighed 1.3 grams. 2RP 297-98; State's Trial Exhibit 27.

Mr. Petek claimed that most of the items in the camper trailer belonged to Mr. Level, even though some of the fake drugs were found in Mr. Petek's gray drug kit. 2RP 253. Mr. Petek admitted that the gray pouch drug kit belonged to him, but claimed items in it were those he had found in the trailer and therefore the items belonged to Mr. Level, not him. 2RP 232, 254.

Police found an AR-15 firearm under the bed in the bedroom. 2RP 200:14-17, 215, 315:14-25; State's Trial Exhibit 30. Mr. Petek had apparently been staying in the RV for five days. 2RP 321. Mr. Petek admitted to law enforcement that he sold methamphetamine to support his habit. 2RP 325.

The trial court ultimately denied Mr. Petek's Motion to Suppress, finding that the entry into the camper trailer was lawful under the protective sweep exception to the warrant requirement. CP 157; 2RP 7-13.

Mr. Petek's case proceeded to trial on May 10, 2021. The jury was presented with the evidence of what law enforcement

discovered pursuant to the search warrant, including photos of the AR-15 and fake drugs.

At trial, the State presented a prior judgment and sentence showing Mr. Petek had been convicted of a felony. 2RP 261; Ex. 13. The judgment and sentence on the prior conviction listed the date of birth, Washington SID number, and FBI number for "Christopher Donald Petek." State's Trial Exhibit 13. During the State's case-in-chief, the State did not provide testimony from any witness that connected the judgment and sentence to Mr. Petek.

After the State rested its case, the defense immediately rested. 2RP 408:10, 13. Mr. Petek's trial counsel then moved to dismiss the firearm charge based on insufficient evidence. 2RP 409:19-20. Mr. Petek's trial counsel argued the State failed to produce independent evidence that the person convicted of the prior crime was the same person who was on trial. 2RP 409-10.

In response, the State moved to reopen its case to present additional evidence, seeking to add the connection between the judgment and sentence and Mr. Petek. 2RP 410. The trial court took a recess to allow for research on the issue. 2NRP 412; 2RP 413. Following the recess, Mr. Petek's trial counsel argued the State should not be allowed to reopen because additional testimony would prejudice Mr. Petek. 2RP 420-22.

The court noted that this Case was particularly unusual because Mr. Petek's attorney had not made a <u>"Big Chief</u> stipulation." 2RP 422:9-14. The trial court also noted that the timing of Mr. Petek's written motion was peculiar. 2RP 422-23. Mr. Petek's trial counsel maintained his position that Mr. Petek would suffer prejudice if the State were allowed to re-open its case. 2RP 421-22. After lengthy discussion as to the applicable rules, the trial court granted the State's motion to re-open its Case, but the trial court also permitted Mr. Petek to re-open his case, if he so chose. 2RP 415-425.

After the trial court granted the State's motion to re-open, the State called Stevens County Sheriff's Sergeant Niegel, who testified about the contents of a jail booking sheet for Mr. Petek.

2RP 432-36. Mr. Petek's booking photo was also admitted into evidence. 2RP 436-37. Sergeant Niegel identified Mr. Petek in court as the person reflected in the photo. 2RP 437-38. The State re-called Detective Coon, who testified that Mr. Petek indicated Mr. Petek had previously been convicted of a drug charge. 2RP 438-39.

The jury convicted Mr. Petek of one count of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree and two counts of Possession with Intent to Deliver an Imitation Controlled Substance. CP 134-36.

Mr. Petek appealed the jury's verdict and the Superior Court's denial of his Motion to Suppress. Division III of the Court of Appeals issued its unpublished opinion (hereinafter the "Opinion") on March 30, 2023, holding that the Superior Court should have granted the Motion to Suppress and reversing the jury's verdict of guilty on the charge of imitation controlled substance. Opinion at 2, attached as **Appendix A**. On June 7, 2023, the Court of Appeals denied the State's timely Motion for Reconsideration. Attached as **Appendix B**. The State petitions this Court for review.

III. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Division III of the Court of Appeals held that the State failed to demonstrate a "reasonable belief" under the protective sweep doctrine that the trailer harbored an individual posing a danger to arresting officers. Opinion at page 1. Division III then ordered that the fruits of the search be suppressed. Opinion at page 36. In doing so, Division III summarily rejected the opportunity to review the applicability of the exigent circumstances doctrine. Opinion at page 24, footnote 10.

Division III also reversed Mr. Petek's conviction for delivery of a controlled substance, holding that the State did not satisfy the corpus delicti rule and provided insufficient evidence to the jury. Division III ordered that the Superior Court vacate and dismiss Mr. Petek's conviction with prejudice. Opinion at pages 2-3, 36.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should this Court, under WA RAP 13.4(b)(2), accept review of Division III's Opinion when the when the Opinion is in direct conflict with a published opinion from Division II?
- 2. Should this Court accept review under WA RAP 13.4(b)(3) when Division III's Opinion directly impacts search and seizure law in Washington?
- 3. Should this Court accept review under WA RAP 13.4(b)(4) when Division III's Opinion impacts a broad range of cases and implicates a significant portion of Washington's residents?

V. ARGUMENT

WA RAP 13.4(b) contains the following four subsections,

that set the qualifications for acceptance of review by this Court:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

WA RAP 13.4(b).

1. <u>This Court should grant review under WA RAP</u> <u>13.4(b)(2) because Division III's Opinion conflicts</u> with a published decision of Division II.

Division III's Decision is in direct conflict with a published Division II decision. Citing <u>State v. Smith</u> from Division II and <u>State v. Ibarra-Cisneros</u> from this Court, Division III refused to examine whether or not the search conducted by law enforcement could be upheld by application of the exigent circumstances doctrine.

In a footnote, Division III stated its categorical refusal to examine the applicability of the exigent circumstances doctrine to Mr. Petek's case:

> For the first time on appeal, the State asks us to consider the lawfulness of the sweep based on an exigent circumstance: that Mr. Petek might have left an accessible firearm in the RV that could be shot through the RV's walls if there was someone inside. Mr. Petek points out that this is a new theory on appeal, and he asks that we decline to entertain it.

> While an appellate court may affirm a suppression ruling on any ground the record supports, it is critical that the parties developed "both facts and legal argument supporting its position." *State v. Smith*, 165 Wn. App. 296, 308, 266 P.3d 250

(2011), *aff'd on other grounds*, 177 Wn.2d 533, 303 P.3d 1047 (2013). Where the State offers no supporting facts or argument at the suppression hearing to limit the application of the exclusionary rule, the Washington Supreme Court has discouraged appellate courts from ruling on new grounds on appeal. *See State v. Samalia*, 186 Wn.2d 262, 279, 375 P.3d 1082 (2016); *State v. Ibarra-Cisneros*, 172 Wn.2d 880, 885, 263 P.3d 591 (2011). Mr. Petek had no reason to defend against application of the exigent circumstances doctrine in the trial court, and we decline to consider it.

Opinion at 24, footnote 10.

Division III's rejection was based upon an incorrect reading of Division II's opinion in <u>State v. Smith</u> and this Court's opinion in <u>Ibarra-Cisneros</u>. <u>State v. Smith</u> and <u>Ibarra-Cisneros</u> were not cautionary tales against upholding a lower court's decision on grounds the lower court did not consider.

Division II of the Court of Appeals recounted <u>Ibarra-</u> <u>Cisneros</u> and explained that <u>Ibarra-Cisneros</u> stood not for dissuasion against upholding on alternative grounds. Instead, Division II explained that "[c]ourts should not consider grounds to limit application of the exclusionary rule when the State at a CrR 3.6 hearing offers no supporting facts or argument." <u>State</u> <u>v. Smith</u>, 165 Wash.App. 296, 307, 266 P.3d 250, 257 (Div. II, 2011), <u>aff'd on other grounds</u>, 177 Wash. 2d 533, 303 P.3d 1047 (2013) (quoting <u>State v. Ibarra–Cisneros</u>, 172 Wash.2d 880, 263 P.3d 591 (2011)).

"Our Supreme Court rejected the 'cursory application of the attenuation doctrine,' noting, 'Our resolution of this case is dictated by the limited record and briefing before us."" <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Ibarra–Cisneros</u>, 172 Wash.2d at 884). Division II concluded, "[t]herefore, unlike the "limited factual record" before our Supreme Court in <u>Ibarra–Cisneros</u>, the record here offers supporting facts and argument for us to consider the doctrines of attenuation and independent source." <u>Id.</u> at 308 (citing <u>Ibarra–Cisneros</u>, 172 Wash.2d at 883). "**We may affirm on any ground the record supports.**" <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>State v.</u> Costich, 152 Wash.2d 463, 477, 98 P.3d 795 (2004)).

Division III's refusal to consider the exigent circumstances doctrine was in conflict with Division II's opinion

in <u>State v. Smith</u> and was ultimately a misunderstanding of this Court's opinion in State v. Ibarra-Cisneros.

2. <u>This Court should grant review under WA RAP</u> <u>13.4(b)(3) because Division III's Opinion has far-</u> <u>reaching implications in search & seizure law.</u>

This Court should grant review under WA RAP 13.4(b)(3) because Division III's Opinion applies to the constitutionality of a search that Division III should have held was permitted by an exception to the warrant requirement.

"When reviewing the denial of a suppression motion, an appellate court determines whether substantial evidence supports the challenged findings of fact and whether the findings support the conclusions of law." <u>State v. Garvin</u>, 166 Wash.2d 242, 249, 207 P.3d 1266, 1270 (2009). "Evidence is substantial when it is enough to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the stated premise." <u>Id.</u> (internal quotation marks omitted). "We review conclusions of law from an order pertaining to the suppression of evidence de novo." <u>Id.</u> "The United States and Washington Constitutions prohibit most warrantless searches of homes. However, the police may search without a warrant under one of the few jealously and carefully drawn exceptions to the warrant requirement." <u>State v.</u> <u>Smith</u>, 165 Wash.2d 511, 517–19, 199 P.3d 386, 389–90 (2009) (internal quotation marks omitted). "The State bears the burden of proving that the warrantless search fits within one of these closely guarded exceptions." <u>Id.</u>

The protective sweep doctrine, as announced by <u>Maryland</u> <u>v. Buie</u>, allows law enforcement officers who effectuate an inhome arrest to conduct a protective sweep "as a precautionary matter and without probable cause or reasonable suspicion...." Opinion at page 20 (quoting <u>Maryland v. Buie</u>, 494 U.S. 325, 334, 110 S.Ct. 1093 (1990)).

Division III noted that for arrests occurring outside of the home, the protective sweep doctrine must be augmented by "...articulable facts that warrant a police officer in believing 'the area to be swept harbors an individual posing a danger to those on the arrest scene." <u>State v. Chambers</u>, 197 Wash.App. 96, 127, 387 P.3d 1108, 1123 (Div. I, 2016) (quoting <u>Buie</u>, 494 U.S. at 334); Opinion at pages 20-21.

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