FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/4/2023 11:12 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 102156-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

٧.

CHRISTOPHER PETEK.

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR STEVENS COUNTY

The Honorable Jessica Reeves, Judge The Honorable Patrick Monasmith, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CASEY GRANNIS
Attorney for Respondent

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC 2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 623-2373

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

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. The issues raised in the State's petition do not merit review.
- a. Whether the State failed to prove the protective sweep exception to the warrant requirement is a fact-bound issue. The Court of Appeals appropriately applied the settled legal standard to the particular facts of this case in holding the State did not meet its heavy burden.

Warrantless searches are per se unlawful under both the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7 unless they fall within a specific exception to the warrant requirement. State v. Ross, 141 Wn.2d 304, 312, 4 P.3d 130 (2000). These exceptions are jealously guarded and

carefully drawn. <u>State v. Williams</u>, 102 Wn.2d 733, 736, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984).

To prove the "protective sweep" exception to the warrant requirement, "there must be articulable facts which, taken together with the rational inferences from those facts, would warrant a reasonably prudent officer in believing that the area to be swept harbors an individual posing a danger to those on the arrest scene." Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 334, 110 S. Ct. 1093, 108 L. Ed. 2d 276 (1990).

The State claims the suppression issue in Petek's case presents a significant question of constitutional law meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Petition at 14. It doesn't. There is no significant question of constitutional law because the law is settled and the Court of Appeals merely applied it.

In actuality, the State bickers about the significance of the particular facts of this case. The fact-bound nature

of the State's argument makes it a poor candidate for discretionary review.

The State's argument boils down to the notion that officers could not be sure there was no one inside the trailer that posed a danger. It posits "officers knew that someone or something was moving inside the trailer but could not say with certainty that the trailer did not contain one or more individuals who posed a threat to law enforcement." Petition at 21.

Ignorance does not equal articulable suspicion of danger. Officers knew there was a dog moving around in the trailer. Officers articulated no facts showing a human remained inside once Petek and his girlfriend were secured outside the trailer. Dispositively, officers lacked a reasonable belief based on articulated facts that someone inside the trailer posed a danger to arresting officers.

The State "must establish the exception to the warrant requirement by clear and convincing evidence."

State v. Garvin, 166 Wn.2d 242, 250, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009). The Court of Appeals applied the established legal standard for the protective sweep exception to the facts of this case and correctly determined the State failed to meet its burden of proof on the particular facts of this case. Buie, 494 U.S. at 334; State v. Chambers, 197 Wn. App. 96, 127, 387 P.3d 1108 (2016), review denied, 188 Wn.2d 1010, 394 P.3d 1004 (2017); State v. Hopkins, 113 Wn. App. 954, 960, 55 P.3d 691 (2002).

b. In line with settled precedent, the Court of Appeals appropriately declined to consider the State's new theory presented for the first time on appeal.

Apparently sensing the weakness of its "protective sweep" argument, the State complains that the Court of Appeals should have considered whether the State proved the exigent circumstance exception to the warrant requirement. Petition at 15-18. The State raised its exigent circumstance argument for the first time on

appeal. The Court of Appeals correctly applied precedent in declining to address the State's exigent circumstance claim.

This Court's decision in State v. Samalia, 186 Wn.2d 262, 279, 375 P.3d 1082 (2016) is on point. In Samalia, the State argued the exigent circumstance exception to the warrant requirement for the first time on appeal. Samalia, 186 Wn.2d at 279. The Supreme Court refused to consider this exception on appeal because it was not argued below. Id. Petek's case is no different. Other decisions are in accord. See, e.g., State v. Larson, 88 Wn. App. 849, 852, 946 P.2d 1212 (1997) ("We will not affirm on the basis of a theory argued for the first time on appeal."); State v. Carter, 79 Wn. App. 154, 162-63, 901 P.2d 335 (1995) ("The State is raising this alternative theory for the first time on appeal; this is a fatal defect.").

The State relies on State v. Smith, 165 Wn. App. 296, 266 P.3d 250 (2011), aff'd on other grounds, 177

Wn.2d 533, 303 P.3d 1047 (2013), positing the Court of Appeals decision is in "direct conflict" with it. Petition at 14. There is no conflict under RAP 13.4(b)(2). As the Court of Appeals recognized, the State in <u>Smith</u> developed "both facts and legal argument supporting its position" at the trial level. Slip op. at 24, n.10 (quoting <u>Smith</u>, 165 Wn. App. at 308). That did not happen here.

The State whistles past the graveyard in ignoring this Court's decision in Samalia, which controls the issue in Petek's favor. By raising this argument for the first time on appeal, the State deprived Petek of the opportunity to develop facts to counter the argument. The opportunity for skillful cross examination of law enforcement witnesses targeted at showing a lack of exigent circumstances has been lost. It would be unfair to consider this alternative basis to affirm the trial court's decision.

"[T]here are obvious due process problems in affirming a trial court ruling in a criminal proceeding on an alternative theory against which the defendant has had no opportunity to present an argument." State v. Adamski, 111 Wn.2d 574, 580, 761 P.2d 621 (1988). Crucially, "fundamental fairness suggests that it ought not be done unless there can be no dispute on the alternative theory."

Id. Petek vigorously disputes the State's alternative exigent circumstance theory.

The State had every opportunity to raise an exigent circumstance argument below and declined to do so. The Court of Appeals appropriately refused to consider the State's belated claim raised for the first time on appeal.

Moreover, the State in its petition does not even seek review of the merits of its exigent circumstance argument. It presents no substantive argument on this alternative exception to the warrant requirement. There is nothing of substance to review here.

c. The plain language of the statute shows the Court of Appeals correctly held that, applying the corpus delicti doctrine, the evidence is insufficient to support the convictions for possession with the intent to deliver an imitation controlled substance.

The State claims this Court invented and imposed a new element in holding the State failed to prove possession with intent to deliver an imitation controlled substance under the corpus delicti rule. Petition at 25. Nonsense.

What the State needs to prove depends on the charge it chooses to bring. State v. Olds, 39 Wn.2d 258, 261, 235 P.2d 165 (1951) ("defendants in criminal cases must be convicted of the offenses charged and guilt of other offenses will not suffice.").

In deciding how to prosecute this case, the State faced a fork in the road. The State had a choice. The State implies it could have charged Petek with possession with intent to deliver a real controlled substance and did

him a favor in not doing so. Petition at 24. The State instead chose to charge possession with intent to deliver an imitation controlled substance. That charging decision has proof consequences.

The State needed to prove the substance at issue was not a controlled substance. This is what the statute plainly requires. RCW 69.52.030(1) (making it unlawful to "possess with intent to distribute, an imitation controlled substance."); RCW 69.52.020(3) (an "imitation controlled substance" is "a substance that is not a controlled substance, but which by appearance or representation would lead a reasonable person to believe that the substance is a controlled substance.").

The jury was instructed, in accord with the statute, that in order to convict, it must find Petek possessed imitation controlled substances and that an imitation controlled substance "means a substance that is not a controlled substance." CP 124-25, 128.

To prove the substances were imitations, it is not enough that the substance merely looks like a real illegal substance. The State must also establish through competent proof that the substance alleged to be an imitation of the real thing is not in fact a controlled substance.

The State's argument nonetheless pretends there is no requirement that the imitation substance is not a controlled substance. According to the State, it does not matter whether the substance is a controlled substance; rather, the only thing that matters is whether the substance appears to be a controlled substance. Petition at 26.

The State's argument reads a proof requirement right out of the statute. "The State is obliged to present sufficient evidence to establish that a defendant's conduct falls within the scope of a criminal statute, regardless of whether the statute's requirements are elemental or

definitional." State v. Crowder, 196 Wn. App. 861, 869, 385 P.3d 275 (2016), review denied, 188 Wn.2d 1003, 393 P.3d 361 (2017). The definitional statute contains the requirement that the substance "is not a controlled substance." RCW 69.52.020(3). The State cannot evade this requirement by ignoring it. No portion of a criminal statute can be interpreted in a manner that renders language meaningless or superfluous. State v. Roggenkamp, 153 Wn.2d 614, 624, 106 P.3d 196 (2005).

The Court of Appeals correctly determined the State failed to meet its burden of proof under the corpus delicti rule. In attempting to prove Petek possessed substances that were imitations of the real thing, the State relied on Petek's confession that what looked like real heroin was fake heroin and what looked like real methamphetamine was not real methamphetamine but rather MSM. 2RP¹ at

¹The verbatim report of proceedings is cited as follows: 1RP - 4/20/21; 2RP - two consecutively paginated

469-70, 493-94. Evidence independent of Petek's confession did not prove the substances were imitations of controlled substances. The State does not dispute the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the field tests were insufficient to independently prove the substances were imitations. Slip op. at 27-29.

The State, due to less than diligent investigation, haphazard presentation of its case, or misunderstanding of the law, made the fatal mistake of thinking it could rely on Petek's confession to prove its case. The State was the architect of its own error.

.

volumes consisting of 04/27/2021, 05/10/2021, 05/11/2021, 05/12/2021, 05/25/2021. The narrative report of proceedings is cited as follows: 1NRP - 4/20/21; 2NRP - 04/27/2021, 05/10/2021, 05/11/2021, 05/12/2021, 05/25/2021.

2. In the event this Court accepts review of the State's petition, this Court should also take review of additional issues not reached by the Court of Appeals.

This case is riddled with reversible error. "If the Supreme Court reverses a decision of the Court of Appeals that did not consider all of the issues raised which might support that decision, the Supreme Court will either consider and decide those issues or remand the case to the Court of Appeals to decide those issues." RAP 13.7(b).

a. The information is defective in failing to include an essential element of the firearm offense.

A charging document is constitutionally defective when it fails to include all "essential elements" of the crime. State v. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d 782, 787, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995); Hamling v. United States, 418 U.S. 87, 117, 94 S. Ct. 2887, 41 L. Ed. 2d 590 (1974); U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wash. Const. Art. I, § 22. Knowledge is an

essential, non-statutory element of the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm. State v. Marcum, 116 Wn. App. 526, 66 P.3d 690 (2003); State v. Cuble, 109 Wn. App. 362, 367, 35 P.3d 404 (2001) (citing State v. Anderson, 141 Wn.2d 357, 362, 5 P.3d 1247 (2000)).

Petek seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). The information omits the essential element of "knowledge" for the unlawful possession of firearm offense. CP 11. The information nowhere alleges Petek "knowingly" possessed the firearm.

The Stevens County Prosecutor's Office committed a similar error in <u>State v. Level</u>, 19 Wn. App. 2d 56, 493 P.3d 1230 (2021). <u>Level</u> held the knowledge element could not be fairly implied from an allegation in the information that the defendant "unlawfully" possessed a stolen motor vehicle. <u>Level</u>, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 58.

From prior case law, <u>Level</u> discerned "the adverb 'unlawfully' can convey a mental state element (such as knowledge or intent) when permitted by common sense inferences," but "[w]hen it comes to crimes punishing simple possession of contraband, the mental state required by the law is not a matter of obvious common sense." <u>Id.</u> at 61-62.

"The case law governing unlawful possession of fenses shows the mere fact possession of a certain object is 'unlawful' does not mean the possession was accompanied by a specific type of knowledge." Id. at 63. Even under the liberal standard of review applicable to challenges raised for the first time on appeal, "an information's allegation that the defendant acted unlawfully is insufficient to convey an inference that the conduct was done with a mental state of knowledge." Id.

The same conclusion holds here. Unlawful possession of a firearm, like the possession of a stolen vehicle offense in <u>Level</u>, is a crime punishing simple possession of contraband. As such, the allegation that

Petek "unlawfully" possessed the firearm is insufficient to convey the knowledge element. The remedy is reversal and dismissal of the charge without prejudice. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d at 792-93.

b. Counsel provided ineffective assistance in bringing a premature motion to dismiss the firearm count, which enabled the State to prove its case.

Every person accused of a crime is guaranteed the constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); U.S. Const. amend. VI. That right is violated where (1) counsel's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency prejudiced the defendant. Id. at 687.

Deficient performance is that which falls below "an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all the circumstances." <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 109 Wn. 2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). Of

importance in assessing deficiency, counsel has a duty to know the relevant law. State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009).

There are two relevant laws at issue here. First, it is axiomatic that the prosecution bears the burden of establishing beyond a reasonable doubt the identity of the accused as the person who committed the offense. State v. Huber, 129 Wn. App. 499, 501, 119 P.3d 388 (2005). When criminal liability depends on the accused's being the person to whom a document pertains, such as when proof of a prior conviction is at issue, the State must use independent evidence to prove the accused is the person named in the document. State v. Santos, 163 Wn. App. 780, 784, 260 P.3d 982 (2011). Identity of names is insufficient. Huber, 129 Wn. App. at 502.

Petek's attorney competently identified this law and relied on it to argue that the State failed to prove its case on the firearm count. 2RP 409-10. Where Petek's

attorney performed deficiently, however, was in moving to dismiss this count too soon based on a mistaken belief that the State could not reopen its case after the defense rested. 2NRP 412.

This brings us to the second relevant law, which an objectively reasonable attorney needs to know in deciding when to raise a sufficiency of evidence challenge. It is well established that a trial court has discretion to allow the State to reopen its case to present additional evidence after the defense has moved for dismissal based on insufficient evidence, even after both sides have rested their cases. State v. Brinkley, 66 Wn. App. 844, 848, 837 P.2d 20 (1992).

Counsel was ignorant of this key point of law at the time the motion was made. When the State expressed its desire to reopen its case in response to the motion to dismiss, defense counsel countered by stating "I think it's -- it's clear that you ought to have more than just the

judgment and sentence. I do not believe you can reopen that after the defense rests." 2NRP 412.

The judge identified that as "our key right there" but did not know the answer to whether the State could reopen. 2RP 412. The judge then recessed to allow the attorneys to research the issue. 2NRP 412; 2RP 413. Defense counsel said he would research it. 2RP 413. The judge arranged for counsel to conduct his research in the court library. 2NRP 412; 2RP 413, 415. When the case reconvened later that day, the research had been done, and it was by then apparent to all that the court had discretion to allow the State to reopen. 2RP 415, 419-20.

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